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Final Transcript 

MeUo£f: Tbie is part II of an oral history intamaw ·with Hr. Paul R. 

Ignatius held in Wa.h:lDgt~, D.C., on April 27, 1987, at 9a30 a.ll. 

Again repre8entina the OS» Historical Office are Drs. Roger Trask and 

Haurice Matloff. 

Mr. Ignatius, at our _eting on March 31, we diacussed your roles 

as .. sistant Secretary of the Army for Installations and Logistics, 

1961-63, aDd aa UDder Secretary of the Army, 1964. We had begun to 

talk about your service as Assistant Secretary of Defense for lnatalla-

tions IDd Lopstica, 1964-67. W. would like to re8Ulle the discussion 

of that role this momins and 10 on to your service as Secretary of the 

Navy. 196 7-69. 

On the question of threat perceptions within OSD, about the tiale 

that you C8ll8 into the ASD(l&L) posiCion in OSD--do you racall what the 

dominant attituda was toward the SOViet threat, and whether you qreed 

with itt Were you aware of any differences within OSD as to what the 

threat was" Por example, wu CoaINI'liea conceived as a monolithic bloc? 

Did you view the atate of SOViet logis tica 8.1 8 serious threet when you 

took over? 

IIP'tiuoz I think C~:iaa wei viewed more as a Biuele bloc, and it 

was only later that people bqan to have a better \1Ildernanding, particu-

lar1y of the differences between tha Chinese and the Soviet Union. One 

of the avante that I tbtnk helped to ahape policy and the perception of 

the threat. was the Congre •• -t. t may have been the 20th--of the COllllllUnbt 

Party. in which there had been a declaration and dedication OIl their 

part to ware below tha threshold of declared war. involvinS irregular 
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and guerrilla force.. Thia had an 8DOrmoua impression, I believe, on 

the policy-makers in the Department and in the govel'J1lDent as • whole, 

and it gave ri.e to emphasis upon special forces in the United States, 

such 81 the Green Bereta; mobile 1.D1it8, 8uch a. the Army'. air assault 

divisiOl18 and units; and the preparation for what eventually became 

involvement in the war in Vietnam. I think, al80. there were dalestic 

political aspects to all of thi8. The Democrat8 had been charged with 

the nl08." of China, and had smarted 1.D1der that for quite SODle time. 

fiJOreover, as I recall, early in the Kennedy administration there was 

consideration of intervention in Laos, but Governor Harriman's mission 

reaulted in the decision that it would be next to impoaaibla to mount 

any kind of a aarioua effort in Laos t given the landlocked nature of 

the country and the apparent unwillingne.. of the Laotians to do very 

much in their own behalf. So when Vietnam came alema, coupled with the 

perception of a changing threat with irregular and guerrilla forces, 

2 

and the presence of Di., who appeared to be a stronger leader with better 

support, the IDeIIOry of the 1088 of China, and the decision DOt to go 

into Laos, all came tocether with the reault that we began what becaaae 

an incre"i.nsly heavy involvement in Vietnam. All of this affected 

what we were doing. On the lopstic eide it affected what we were 

buying--with many changes in raquiraaen.t8. quantities. etc.; greater 

.-phasis on readiness; in the Defense Department a lot of interest on 

faat deploJlD8llt logistic 8hips. That was never popular in the Senate. 

I reaamber testifying before Senator Bus8ell on those 8hips having very 

difficult questions raised by him. So far a8 Soviet logi8tics were 
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concerned, I dontt think of anything particular in that ccmnection. So 

far .. war in Europa wu concerned, the Soviets had a much easier job, 

beeaue they didn't have aa far to go aa we did. We had to tailor our 

forces with a great deal of emphasis on sealift and airlift. 

MaUo,ff: Ware you or your office drawn in OIl the problema of strategic 

pl8lU1ing durinc the .Johnson adminiatration? 

Iawtiuaa I was not involved in strategic planning, but was certainly 

involved in logiBtical plamUq. One of the areat problema in the Vietnam 

liar was the lack of a logistical infrastructure to support the degree of 

involvement that increasingly became evident. We lacked ports, airfields, 

and just about everything that was needed. So there wa. a lot of plannin,g 

effort and implementation of thole plana. aDd that was a major preoccu-

patiOll of my time as ASD(IlL). StrategiC quBsti0D8--no; we didn't get 

into tboae. 

Matloff: Did the .Joint Chiefa ever consult you on the interaction of 

strategy with logistics? 

ImatWI There were aome dbcusa10na that I bad individually with ODe 

or acre Chiefs and certainly With the .1-4, but I don't recall any 

formal meetinga with the Joint Chiefa as a corporate body. Uaually we 

talked about specific itema--like Ambalsador Martin in Thailand needed 

aomething--aituationally oriented caae-by-caae matters, rather than 

queationa of broad strategy. 

HaHoff. This was a period of great feraen.t, in and out of the Depart­

ment of Defeoae. There were Deff!D88 intellectuals t people who had baen 
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brought in fram lWO), and those who had 8tayed at lWUl. It. abre you. 

were aware of the debate. Were you keeping up with i.t? 

Im,tiyal Yea, I was, but I was a180 very busy doiua IlY job. I don't 

think I have ever worked a. bard and. I hope, al productively. in lIlY 

life, as I did in that 3 1/2 year period as Assi8tant Secretary of 

Defense (1&1.). That was an eDOl'IIOU8ly broad and comprehanaive a8sign-

mant, at a time when we had to get so much done wi tbout the uaual tools 

that one had in a mobilization effort of thia tind. 

Matlpff, About the impact of inter8ervice competition on your office'a 

operationa, policies, and procr"'--bow serioua a problem was itT 

ImaUya: I don't think that it was a seriOUll problam. What was seriou8 

was accomplis~ woat we needed to do in the Vietnam War effort in the 

li&bt of previoua policies and perceptions. We had to eatabli.h a number 

of production lines for sao, 750, and 1,000 pound general purpose bombs, 

for example. !here wasl1't any tooling to build them. The Air Force 

had owned that tooHII.I. and bad gotten rid of it. I lupp08e the fellow 

who did it and lot 10 cents on the dollar for the tooling probably 

thought he had done a pretty good job, because if there wal ever goin& 

to be another war the lalt thing anybody thought would ever be needed 

was the old iron bomb.. So we had to begin this tremend0u8 effort 

starting from behind the go&1 line. so to apep. You can't fault the 

Air Force for that. They were acting on what aeemed to be nat:l.cmal. 

policy. When the time CIllDe to aet going on all the.. thiDa., the indus­

trial b .. e responded raaaonably well. We had aome problems sometimes, 

because individual eervices OYled their own i1Wantoriea. I may have 

4 
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lOIle into the question about the need to take from the Navy certain 

ordnance in order to make it available to the Air Porce and to carryon 

the bombing program at the level that Admiral Sharp wanted. The Navy 

didn't want to give that up, and I had to ineist that they do ao. I 

WOUldn't call that riYalry .. much as ''These are mine. and I don't. went 

to land thalli." There was always rivalry, and I aaw that perhap. more 

clearly later on whan I became Navy Secretary, between naval air and 

the Air Porca. the naval aviators always wanted to make aure that 

naval aviation got the proper attention. I sensed rivalry there. I 

don't recall any 1181ative aspeell of rivalry between the Army anc:l the 

Marines. We tried to eatabUsh, and did succeed at least nominally, in 

estsbliahing a construction czar in Viatnam to supervise the enormous 

conatruction program that involved the Corps of Bn.gineera, the Navy 

Yards and Docks, etc. I ran into probl_. on that. They didn't seem 

to want to do that. Cy Vance and I insisted that that be clone, and we 

did end up with aomeOlle, I think an Army officer. a genera1 officer of 

the BngiD.eer Corps, in charge. There wae rivalry there and it tended 

to be the kind of thing that, "We know what we're d0111&, and we don't 

need someone over us to tell 118 how." Our feeling was that there had 

to be more coordination of this program of construction in Vietnam. 

MaUoff; Bow much impact and control did the Assistant Secretary of 

Defenee (Ia) have over the formulation aDd allocation of the Defenee 

bud8et in tba8e are .. ' 

5 

Igp,tiUlI I spent a lot of time gOing over the requests from the Service •• 

I remember partieularly, at McNamara's direction, workiug with the Air 
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Force on the amount of money in their budcet for aeuaral purpoee ordnance, 

aome of the bomb. wa ware talking about earlier. There was interest in 

malting aure that they wera putting enough mcmey into the budget for 

theae purposea. 

MaUOffl Were there differences of views, perhaps, between you ahd the 

COIIptroller, or with Mr. McNamara, over the amount of 1DOD.&y for the 

installations and logiatics area? 

I&P,tiUl: '!'here llUat bave been SCIlla, but geuerally epeakiDg. the lDOIl8y 

that I t:houcht the aervicel needed and they thought they needed for the 

cOll8UlDllblea ... octated with tbatwar effort were not controversial items. 

Generally .peaking, my recollection of this period was getting out the 

production for which the mouey was budgeted, rather than getting the 

lIOney in order to place the contracts. We were doubling and tripling 

some of our production rate. for major items, auch .. helicopters, etc. 

In the case of aIIDWlition, we were going to extraordiDary lengths to 

brina general purpoae ordnance into the inventory. The budgetary upecta 

were really the usual bread and butter type of effort to make aure that 

the amounts were correct, and ao forth. I don't recall any major allo­

cation probl_a on dollars. '!'here muat have been 801De, but nothing 

iDaediately leapl to miOO. 

6 

Hat.1gff: Were the funds appropriated directly to the services, or through 

your office, or both? 

Ignat:f.ua: '1'hey were funded direct.1y to the •• ryice.. My office was 

involved in over.eeing thia proceaa, and we a1ao had a number of budget 

exerei ... where aupplaental reque.ta were involved. I remaaber all 
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kiad.a of plaaniq effortll; for aaaple, MctfallU'a WCNld live me certain 

•• a\1llptioaa that bad beau developed. and then I would .. et with the 

.tray Secretary, Stan lle8or. and tell hill, "I hate to do thia at 4:00 in 

the afternoon, but by 8:00 taaorrow aorniq we've lot to have the Army's 

view on a whole set of new thiDga.1I 'lhey would come forward with budget 

numbers that would eventually be the basis for a supplell8Dtal reqqeat. 

I suppoae what triggered all of these thiogs were requests frOID 

Westmoreland and others in the field, that they needed further aua-

mentation, .nd 80 forth. So I was involved heavily in mattera of 

that kind. 

MaUoff a Do you recall what percent ... e of the Defense budget was a11o-

cated to I IlL ? 

Igpatiua, I would not be able to &ive you a ready aDBwer. Manpower 

wa. always a larce part of the budcet. 

Hatlgffz That was the next qu8ation--wbo received the gre.test ahare' 

Im.tWa Manpower was built in. You had tha nUllber of people time. what 

they were paid, etc. The procureMllt budcet in tho.e days was far le88 

than what it ie today, but it mu.t have been $25 or $30 billion for the 

major it_, and for the secondary itellS another $5 or $10. I would 

gue.8 we were at some laval like $40 billion or ao, but I'll not aure of 

theae OUIIIbera. Inflation has had INCh a hea¥}' toll that it'. hard to 

~are thoae numbera to today'. numbera. 

Matloff I In connection with III8JlpOWV and weaponry, this was a contro-

v8rsial period. with the intqration i.a'U8. the lIerliDC of the Rsticmal 

7 
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Guard with the :Reservea, and a nUllber of weapODS syetema which were 

controversial. Wer.:pou drawn in on the,. _ttera 7 

Igpatiwu When I was an offici.l of the ArIIly~ I got involved with the 

Itaaerve and Guard queationa. In the ea •• of IIrL in Defense, I don't 

r __ ber anythin,g particularly noteworthy. W. were equippina them as 

we were aquippinc the regular force't but I don't raaaber any .pecific 

policy questions. 

I!Iatloff: Do you recall any cliffereneea of view8 wi tb variou. office. 

of OSD on the questi0D8 of weaponry" 

lIO'tiUlI There were questions in EnthoveD'. office always about nuclear 

forces for the Ravy t particularly carriere, and a180 frigatea. That 

vas ... tter of controver.y between Inthoven and the Navy. .rolmny 

Foster wu the R&D Secretary at that time and there wa. beginning to be 

a raging controveray over the 1PX, later the P-l11. I wa8n't involved 

in that utter beca\l8e it was in an It&D stage. I bec .. e involved at a 

later point u Secretary of the Navy. A, OSD I&L, I wa, not involved 

in that. 

Mltloff I About foreip area probl_ and crieea, begisminl wi t.h NATO­

this was the period when France vu taken out of the military cOlllllland 

atructure by de Gaulle. Did this lead to problema for your office? It 

certainly had an impact on. that line in COftJllmi cationa and logistical 

support of the Alliance. 

ICMt.iUl: Yea, it did. I r.-ber making a couple of tripa and meeting 

with lODe of the logietical c~er8 .. well a8 the overall commanders 

in Europe. I think that. we were able to cope with that all ri,pt. 

8 
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'lbere wal always a feeling, I think, that if war broke out. we would be 

able to work with the Prench and with their installationa, even tbbugh 

they had aada thos. changea. ona question that I remambar being involved 

in with respect to .'10 logistics had to do with prapoaitioninc. 'Ihere 

waa a lot of talk about whether to preposition. and if 10, how much. I 

think wa deciclad on two diriaiona worth of equiplDellt and aelected what 

would 10 in there and made aure that it could be stored properly, partie-

ularly to ensure tbat it could be brought out in time to be useful. 

Moreover, there were some coproduction prolrams-for uample, the NAn) 

BAM[ mi •• ile was a coproduction progr... I and ., Office were in~lved 

in that. I had a lot of reaponaibili ty for the production sharing 

procr_ with Canada and would host meetings of my C8IUldian counterpart 

here and then would head the deleption going to Canada to meet and 

review coamitlDlmtB under this program. The ul tillate aim of a lot of 

that, of course, was for NATO. 

l1at,1Aff; Do you have any impressions about whether the .allies were pull-

ing their weight in this field? Where the intea:raUoo might have gone 

further? 

Ip.tiua: There was always a feeling that they could do more than they 

were, aIUi that continuas right up to the present JDOmeIlt. I think we 

shiftea during that period to the 7.62 round rather than the 30 caliber. 

T.here was a lot of NA70 committee effort designed to get a more common 

lOgistical ayst_ and more coaaon itell8, but how aueh procress was made 

on that, I don't know. My recollection ia that it was fairly limited. 

9 
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MaUpffl What role. if any. did you play in connection with Vietnam, 

in your capacity .. Asai.tant Secretary of Defenae during the J'ohnaon 

adminiatration? Were JOU%' views souaht; what did you rec~; how 

were you drawn in? 

!m.tiue: I don't r8ll8mber that my views were sought with respect to 

matter. of 8trategy--lhould we go into Vietn •• and if 80. bow? I was 

heavily involved in everything having to do with implementation of the 

decisions aa they related to equipment. shipping, cOl18truction, the 

production base, 8trikes, aru1 defenae plant.a; everythiag having to do 

with carrying out theae deci.iane. aa opposed to the b.sic deci8ions 

thsuelve •• 

natlpff: What were your reactions to two decili0D8 that President 

J'ohnaon II84e in this period; one, to cCllllllit American ground COIIbat 

troops; awl the other, to bomb north of the 17th parallel-both made 

in 19657 

lCOaUUII: The decision of President J'ohnaon to 10 in with IIOre forcel 

seemed to lie to be a continuation of what had been go:h1.& on before, and 

Whether it was a difference in degree or a difference in kind, I 8uppoae 

that one could argue, but it certainly waa a major eV8l1t. 'the deciaim 

to bomb. as I remember it, was initially thought to be very limited in 

nature. People had 80118 concern about it, but it was • very ex.plicit 

p'ant of authority in the belief that if the designated targets were 

bombed. there wouldn't be any need for further bombing. 

Mat.loff I Did you .,ree en.tirely with Defen.ae policy and strategic 

plUllliDg during the Vietnam conflict T 

10 
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Im.tiusl I always tbou&:ht, going back to JIl':f time in the Army, that 

there were e1e1181lta of nationaliBt etruggle. along with the Caa.un:Lat 

upectl. in the war in Vietnam. I had read about thia and knew about 

the lana history of Vietnam--the French occupation, the ganaral xeno­

phobia of the Vietnameae people, the 1~ atruggle of Bo Chi Minh over 

the years-so I alway. thought there were 8011e el_ants of naticmaU.m 

involved there, alon,g with the COIIIIIImin threat. 

Matloff: Let me ask you about the DOminican Operation, which aleo took 

place during thi8 period-in April 1965 we intervened with trOOpS. 

Were you or your office consUlted, or did you have any reca..endationa7 

Ip'tiY8: I don't remember being conlUlted or asked for recOl!!D8adatiooa. 

I th:I.nlt that I was at the White lIouae that night at a reception that 

PreBident JobDsOil was holding for a large number of people. Be wae 

getting mes8q8. from the Amba8sador down there, who was under his 

dealt, as I recall. Ked Raborn wa. the CIA chief at the time, and they 

were all caught up in this thing. It cuae and went pretty fa.t, as I 

r...aa.ber. 

natWf I How about. the Middle East opu.tiona, particularly the &rab­

Iaraeli war in June 19677 Did you or your office play any role in that 

connection, aDd did that war have any impact. on your office'. operationa, 

policiea. or p18l1Jl.ing? 

xgpatW I The conflict had :Lmpact iii the 88118e that McHamara and others 

in Defense were eDOl'IDOU8ly impressed with the relulta of the Israeli 

ar.my--the readine.s of their reserves, the effectivene.s and readine •• 

of their force.. General Koahe Dayan visited the Pentagon a~ the end 

11 
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of that conflict and was appalled to learn about the 8111111Lition procure-

DleDt that we were involved in and the rates of expenditure of .-unition. 

That, I 1:hiDt, had some effect OIl everycme. 1'bera were a lot of campara-

tiva stateaenc. _de about what the Iaraelis did, per round expended 80 

to apaak, against our rather !lOra wholesale Wle of ordnanee. My office 

must have been involved tn some specific aspecte of that 1967 conflict, 

but I'ID hanna trouble recalliq just what they might have been. 

Matloff: A general question on Mr. Mcnamara's refOrM in ma.nagament-

what impact in general, or in particular, did they have on the operationa 

of your office! Did they make your relationa with the military more or 

1eaa difficultY 

IaHUln I think his refo1'lD8 were eaorIDOWIly important. On balance, 

while .oae of them were controversial, they made my job easier. In the 

first place, Me8amara gave enormous backing to the I&L functiOll. and to 

IDe peraonally. and he expected that there would be similar emphaai8 at 

12. 

the service level. As a result, the Assiatant Secretariee i'O the Bervices 

and I tn Dafenae worked toaethar very effectively as a team under McNamara'. 

overall managariat policies. It se8lll8d to me it would have been harder 

undar • philoaophy that aaid that the aervices really could do their 

own thing, without Defense involvdeDt. That would have made a Def_. 

job, in lUDy ways, herder. We weren't running thinel out of my office, 

except po •• ibly for the BDDUDition progrUl. But you can't run many 

thing. out of the Defense staff. Thea. are eDOrIIOUI enterpri.es. They 

have to be run by the .ervices aDd delagated at the hish leva18 of the 

services down to the operating offices. 
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Matlpff: Wa. it your feeliQg that your office WSI primarily formulating 

or implement inc policy in the field of inatallationa and loli.tice? 

llAltiua: ProIa the beginning of the McNamara period, when TOlD. Morrie 

was the first incumbent of that position, through Illy period following 

Tom for BDOther three year., we were foraulating policy to • large 

extent. MCRamara believed that operating respanaibility should be put 

at the 8ervice leval. Aa he put it to lie one ciay, he thought that you 

should have the brightelt people that you could find at the OSP etaff 

level, in order to be involved in the formulation of policy and the 

review of implementation. But the idea that you would run 8011l8thing 

out of Defense was foreian to his thinkiJlg, and 1Iina. with the posaible 

exception of the ._mi tion program, mere for a lot of reaaorl8 there 

wu a need for direct and heavy involvement at the »efena. level. I 

II1U8t aay that I didn't encounter any particular oppoaition to this fram 

the service.. We wortad effectively and amicably together .e profes-

sicmals. You can't run the services, and the Defenae eatab1::l.ahaumt a8 

a whole. out of the B ring and the 050 apacel. 

tsatloffl What do you regard ae your major achievement.. in thi. role? 

Im.tiua I Acc~li8hing Defense production programs of World War II 

aaagnitude in an ecODOllY that did not enjoy the priorities for Defense 

materiel and production that normally characteriZe an effort of that 

magnitude. That, I think, wa. the major accOIIpliabment of lIlY period, 

and i.t related to all of the materiel 9 p~icularly the ~tiOD. 
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heUcopters, aircraft, and .ecODdary items a8 well. We establi8hed a 

very responsive logistic.t 8ystem to support a war of quite large 

8COpa. 

Hat.1Qff I Any di.appointmente or frutrations? 

Im,UUlI Ho, there weren't many fruatraUons. !here were day to day 

problema, but there W88 a sense of accomplishment. W. probably would 

have made IIIiCIre progress in soma of our procurement reformation and 

improvement programs but .cae of tho8e things in fact got deelllphasized. 

Bob never wanted to deemphasize them. but in fact they were beeauee of 

the need to ,et on with the urgant priorities of the Vietnaa War. 

Mat,lgff: Now to your role of Secretary of the Navy, September 1967-

.January 1969. What was the bacqround of this appointJllent1 What were 

the circWDlltancel--who recOllDl1\dad YOU. what iaatructiona were you 

,iven? 

IcnatiY,t I tty D8IDe waS considered by I'JcRUlara and di8CU88ed between 

KcRamara and Vance, but .John ftJcNauahton wae .elected. fIIcNamara told me 

that he tboucht my job as .laliatant Secretary of Defenae (I&L) wae far 

more iaportaDt than any job of service secretary, particularly at that 

time of the Vietnam War. He actnowle4ged that the serviee .ecretary's 

job was probably more prestigious in the public'. mind. but 80 far as 

8ubatance was concerned, he 8aid. "Your job i8 more important, and I 

want you to coatinue to do it." He recoaaended that .John Mdlaughton 

be made the Navy Secretary. Within a very ahort period of time. four 

or five day., .John, hie wife, and one or mora of their children met a 

traaic death :in a cOlliaion, when a amall plane ran into the airliner 

14 
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in which they were flying. After that, Mc:Ramara reopened this queetiOll 

with lie and said he felt that he had to offer IDe the job because I wae 

entitled to it. He still thought the 1&1. job was more important, but 

Cy and he felt that they were clut,-bound to offer it to me, in the 

event that I wanted it. I told him that I did want it. for a number of 

reaaona. I had been in the 1&1. job for 3 1/2 yearl; the Navy job was a 

new challenge; and I wanted to do it. So Mcliamara arranged to move TCIII. 

Morris out of the Manpower Assistant Secretary job into I&L to replace 

lie. 1 had replaced 'lam in 1964, and he replaced _ in 1967. So far 

aa instructions were concerned, the one thing I remember particularly 

that I diacU88ed with MCNamara had to do with the whole question of 

budgetary planning in the .avy. 1 told hia that as an 051) perBon for 3 

1/2 years I bad been involved in reviewing service budaets and working 

with the Cc.ptroller and others on them. I aaid, "When I go down to 

Navy, I 1m prepared to work with the Navy in a tough-minded manner on 

the Navy budget submisBion and come in with B tight budget. If I'll 

successful ia. doing that and your Defense Itaff than wbaek8 that budaet t 

you've got to let a new Navy Secretary fait. So I will go either way. 

We'U come in with the traditional budget planning and OSD can do ita 

thing, or I will do at the Navy level what I have been doing here. But 

if I do that, you've got to make aure that we get supported." Be said, 

''Fine. I want you to do the job there, and you go ahead and do it." I 

told that to 7011 Moorer, who was the new eNO, and in effect be said 

that he would go along with me. Rivero, the Vice Chief, simply wouldn't 

baliave it and said that we would be making a mistake if we did it. We 

IS 
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C81l8 in with SOlIe pratty tight budaeta. I acted as .avy Secretary .s 

tbogp. I was an OSD reviewer. Moorer went al.ong. and we did fine. 

We did very well and over a period of time probably got more progrllll8 

atarted and funded than had occurred in a long time. In ahort, it 

worked. 

_loff: Did the experience with the Army prove WI.ful or a handicap 

in the new post? 

IlDAtiua a All of these things merged. It probably helped. All that 

you learn from ally job that you are in help.. I C81D8 in to the Navy 

job with 6 1/2 years of experience in the Defllll8e Department. Bach 

elesent helped the next one. 

MatWft llhat were the probl_ in the Navy when you. toot overt How 

did you CODceive your role a8 Secretary! 

IlP'tiual I conceived my rol.e as working effectively with the Chief of 

.aval Operatioaa and t.ryin& to iueulcate the thiaking of my civilian 

staff with the think1ng of the military ,taff, with Moorer and lIIe working 

hand and 310ve together. I had aeen an example of this with Bus Wheeler, 

when be had been Chief of Staff of the Anty workin,g with Vance as the 

Secretary. One of the ways my Army experience helped was seeing the 

effective way that Cy and Whaeler bad worked together. Moreover, I had 

an .baolutely first-rate group of Under and £asistant Secretariel in 

the Navy. Bob Froach was the It&D man. Be later became the head of 

ftA", and after that, Vice Prelident of General MOtors in charge of 

all ltliD. Jill Bannel'lllan, a great professional in procureaent. was my 

1&1. Asstaunt Secretary. later replaced by Barry Shillito. wbo became 
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Def_. 1&1.. tty Comptroller wu Chuck Bowsher, l1QIW Chief of the General 

Accounting Office, ~e Comptroller General of the united States--an 

outstaJlding official. I had, 8IIODC the military people, lieutenant 

cOlJlllander8 who bec_ 4-star officers. Of lIy two mil! tary aide., Worth 

Baaley bec_ the youngeat 4-atar adIIiral in the hi8tory of t.he Ravy, 

Vice Chief of Raval Operations. He was replaced by Stan Turner I who 

also went to 4 star., and later became Chief of CIA. There was a young 

c .. ptain named Tom Hayward, who was in ebrle of aeronautical affairs in 

my office. Be became Chief of Raval Operations. Barry Train was a 

lieut.enant ca.mander; he became Chief of the Atlantic Ple.t. I I18Dtian 

.. 11 of this because they were first.-rate people and we worked effectively. 

together with the CIfO and hi. people, and that was the general philosophy 

that I wanted to follow. 

Hatlgffl Are the eiviliane that you named moatly people you brought in1 

Im.UUSI I brouaht rt1rner in to replace Bacley; Bagley waB there 

before-I think Paul NiUe broup.t Bagley in. I recruited Chuck Bowsher 

with the help of Bob Anthony, who was the Defense COliptrOllar. 1 brought 

Barry Shillito in when Jim Bannerman died. Bob Proach was a1ready 

there. I lUde an Assistant Secretary, Chuck Baird. the Under Secretary. 

It waa a mixture of people already there and those I brought in. 

Matlaff I Did you have a free hand in these appo:intllenta'l Was there 

any presaure on you from the administration or fram McNamara'. office? 

IIPYu:iua: In eight yeara in the Pentagon. in four different joba, I 

recall only OIle inatance where there was any pre.aure fram the adminia-

tration to appoint a person to a Presidential appointee level job. 

11 
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There was no pressure from the administration or elsewhere with re.pect 

to political party affiHaUca.. Bobody ever asked a. when I came whether 

I was a Democrat or a Republican. There were people who were Republicans 

in what were Daocratic administrations. 'lhere was only one caae--thia 

fellow was quite good, but he wua't good for the Defense Department. 

Weoppoaed the White Bouse on it, not me personally, but lIlY views were 

cOnsulted. Vance and McNamara handled it. but he .waa aevertheleu 

appointed. As we predicted, he did not -work out. He would have been 

fine in another Department, but they kind of ate hill alive in the Defense 

Department. 

Hat10ff I What problema did you face when you took over .. Secretary of 

the Wavy, and who set your priorities? 

IlDAt,iUlI The pdodti .. particularly involved new weapana procrama 

in the submarine and antisubmarine warfare areas and the resolution of 

the long-atuding controveray involving Ue Tn P-lll airplane. l'be 

new weapons progr81118 orilinated 8IIIOD.I the uniformed aide of the Navy t 

by and larse. and the controversy with rnpect to them involved differ-

eneea between the Defense staff and the Navy staff on various items. 

the resolution of the TPX problem was neceaaitated by events. I became 

involved in that for the fir8t time when I was the Bavy Secretuy and 

it became evident to me that the Navy wanted no part of that airplane. 

1'bey had very .trona feeling_ about it. It became my reeponaibility to 

get the matter finally re8olved. 

18 
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MatlAff I Did the problema aDd the prioritiea chane- in. any way when 

Clifford took over frOID Mdtamara in March 1968? 

IIQII.iJII r I r8lllelltber one .pacific ill8tance where there was a change. 

There had been a lot of oppoBition to a nuclear frigate prograa. Theae 

were large ships that were part of the nuclear taa:ll: forces. During the 

ttclflllU'a period and through Alain Bnthoven'8 office there va. a lot of 

opposition to them. but there was very 8'trOJl3 support for them on the 

Hill. I talked to Clark Clifford abortly after he took OVer 88 Defenae 

Secretary. That waa in my early period aa Bavy Secretary. We decided 

that uybe we ought to 10 aloag with that, that Defense ought to support 

these Navy lhip.. Clifford .e.-ad more anxious than McRamara had been 

to d_l with this i88ue in a way that was supportive of the Navy view 

aDd in consonance with the views of kay people on the Hill. Moreover, 

Clifford seemed to be 8pending a tremendous amount of his time in the 

whole process of resolution of the Vietnam conflict, working directly 

with Prasident .Jobnacm, 80 that I found as Navy Secretary that I was 

workins perhap8 more with Hi tze 88 the Deputy Secretary of nefense than 

would have been the cue had McBamara atill been there. Paul Ritze, in 

part because Clifford was 80 involved with White lIouae mattera, but 

alao in recopitiOll of hi. mastery of all aapecta of the PentagOll, was 

a day-to-day leneral ll8D.ager of tbe Depart.ment. It w .. quite fascinating 

to have the privilege of working for MCNamara and than for Clifford. 

1'hay were very different in manner, style, aud experience. etc., each 

outatrm4ing in hia own way. 

Matloff. Did you work more do.ely with ttdfamara'l 
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Icnat!UlI Yea. 

MaUoffs Bow often did you •• e them? 

Imatiua. With McNamara in Defanee I had one weekly meeting on IU 

mattera. 1'he phone, the direct intercca, would ri'ng every day, on 

various thinss. or I would find myself going into his office for spacial 

meetings. There was very frequent contact. In the case of Mr. Clifford, 

there was leaa; it tended to be JIlOre with Paul Riue. I still had the 

weekly meeting .a Ravy Secretary with the Secretary of Defamte. and 

Clifford was often there, but sometime. he wasn't. 

Matloff: Bad you known Mr. Clifford before? 

ICD'tiua I By reputation, but not personally. 

~I Clifford apparently aet a1l1ost every morn.in8 that he wa. in the 

Pentqon with a Vietnalll steering group of 8011e sort. Were you involved 

in that? 

Im.tiwu No, I was Bavy Secretary at that tima, and to the best of 

my recollection nobody at the service level was part of that. I think 

that Clifford worked very cl08.1y with Paul Warnke. who wu usistant 

secretary for International Security Affaira, and there ware perbaps 

others involved a180, but I waa not. 

natioff: Were you meeting more often with BOlle ABsiatant Secretarias 

than othara; for 8Xalllple, with the IU head, and with Mr. Morris. your 

auceeaaor in I&L? 

Ipati),1l: 1 met 88 Bavy Secretary lIOn with Johnny Foster as the »efenae 

ll&D un because questiona C8IDe up involving aublllarine proeureaant, 

etc.. and with Alain Bnthoven, beea.e of the cOIltroveray over the 
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frieatea and other mattera. there were acme Meting_, but I don't 

remeJlber 1IaAy, with lob Anthony. who was then the CQllptroller, Moot 

came in 88 COIIlptroller at the end. He had worked for _ in 1&1., in 

charge of shipping and traoaportation. I brought him into 1&1. frOID the 

»efaPSe Supply Ageney, 

Matlpff z How about relatione with the other Service Secretariea-lleaor 

of the J.rrq, and Harold Brown of the Air Force-bow often did you meet 

with them, and did you ever have discua.i.OM with thea about the chenged 

role of the Service Secretary vis-a-vis the Secretary of »efenae? 

Imatiwl& ZUcltert ia a student of that subject. He's written articles 

in the u'''"'Td '111." lUiRW about it. He and 1 have talked many 

tillea, and I talked with Harold at time. about it. Aa I reme1lber, we 

would entertain one another at lunch froa .time t.o time. It wasn't a 

particularly oreanbed ••• don, but informal. and. we would talk about 

a lot of things. We saw one another at the Monday DOming staff meetings, 

and I occasionally got a phone call frOil one of lIlY counterparts. 'mere 

wa. cOD8Ultation, but not 1lUc.b of a formal Bort. 

aat1Qffl How about the JCS--first of all, Aa.iral Moorer? 

Xp',t;iWIl I was determined at the begilUling that we should work hand. 

in glove tog.ther, and we did, vary effectively. 

MaUof,f I Bow often did you and the other Service Secreta:tiee meet with 

the J"CS, when Wheeler wu CbairJlan? 

llDAtiua: I don't t.bin1t that we ever did, if you mean the fcmDal cor-

parate body. Moorer WOUld keep me generally informed about JCS deliber-

atiOllS. By the way. there 1188 • back door out of his office into mine, 
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we called it "calin,g through the woodwork." Moorer could alip in. through 

that door and I could do the aame. 'lhat'l not a bad adminiltrative 

device, incidentally, when you have, 10 to .peak, leparate staffa--a 

Secretary'l staff, a military staff. aDd a bunch of people surrounding 

the Chief of Ifaval Operations, everybody in.volved in his own area of 

responaibility. It'. lUIIeful to have some way. of gettin& around all 

that to have aOlDa informal discussionl. 

MaUgff: rhis leems to be in the tradition of Marshall and Stimson. 

who worked 10 closely together. Bow about the State Departaent, did 

you have any dealinga with Dean Rusk, or anyone in State? 

Icpati.ua: I had lome dealingl with State as Asliatant Secretary, IR. 

aa they related to procurement programs that had foreign policy implica-

tionl or balance of trade iJaplicatiOJl8. Again. I'm aure there were 

1000e thinga in the lavy job, but I don't recall anything right off 

hand. 

Matloff: How about with the WRite House, any direct or indirect access 

to President Johnson! 

Ignau'UI! : Normally we didn t t deal directly. nor do I think we should 

have under the Defenae Department organization. UDder the laws and 

practices that developed, those contacts were handled by the Secretary 

of Defense. President Jobnaon did ,at in touch with ae about a trip I 

was going to be making to Vietnam and asked 1M to try to aee Chuck 

IlObb, bil son-in-law, and see how he waa. I made it a point to visit 

and chat. with him and reported back to the boaa on my return. 
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MI,tloffa IIow about Congreal! Bow IlUch sensitivity did you find in 

Coacree. on issues involving the Bavy? 

Im'tiUl: There waa a Kreat daal of it and I did have to appear. I 

had always made it a practice to prep~e .., own backup book indexed in 

a way where I could find what I wanted. In the Navy, there were people 

wboae aole job in life was handing notes to the Secretary on each ques­

tion. I 8aid, ''Let'. get something straight right away. I'm the witness; 

I've lot lIlY book; I will 8XUlwer. If I don't know what the answer ie, I 

don't have any haait8JleY in telling tha. We can always get SOlll8 note 

up to them later, but I don't want a paper thrust in front of me that 

I'm seeing for the first tiM." I didn't like that system at all. 'lhe 

Bavy people are adaptable. and they are there to help you. It all 

worked out fine. 

Matl,gff I Do you recall on what blUes Conare.. was aenei ti ve! 

Icnatiusl I mentioned the nuclear frigate.. 'there was a lot of aenai-

tinty and intereat on that. Also, the Tn. 

MatloU= With whom in Congress were you !IOat1y dealing? 

lcp'U,UI: With the Armed Services CoaIIIittee. and the AppropriatiOll8 

CClllDitteea. In the DefeJUle 1&1. job I dealt with a wider ran&e of Con­

greaaional coaaittees than in the Navy job. In the Navy job it tended 

more to be teet:laany in eonnactioo with the bucl&et. We would go 

with posture statement. to the authoriziQg cOllllitteea. end then Bub8&-

quantly to the appropriations committee.--but all around the cycle of 

the annual budget. 

!3 
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natloff l Did you have COJIIplete leeway when you appeared on the Rill? 

Ro inatructiOn.t or emphasis fra. anybody in OSD on what poai tion was to 

b. taken? 

Ip,tiua: I responded earlier in connection with my other jobs in 

Defenae. In the Navy, I don't think it wa. different. I perc.iv.d of 

Ily job, and of every job I held there, as beine a IIeIIber of a Defense t.... 1 felt that I Wal bound to support the President'. budget when 

it was finally d.cided, and I did so. If I were asked a personal opia-

ion t 1 would anewer dir.ctly aDd honestly, but I was there to defend 

the President's budget, aDd that portion of it for which the Defense 

Department was responsible, and not to filht old battles that had been 

decided. I would never try to go around a Defense decision by currying 

favor on the Hil1 for a Navy point of view that had not prevailed during 

the deliberations prior to submission of the President's budget. 

HaUpff s Did this lead to any embarrasUl8llt in cODDection with those 

controversial are.a, like the Tn.? with the OSD offices taking one 

position and the I£vices involved in a struggle over another? 

Ipatiua: When I got into the TP.X, the Gruaaan Corporation, wbich bad 

been a subcontractor to General Dynaaicl, came in with an unsolicited 

bid for a DeW airplane that would be for the Navy itaalf. When I learned 

about thi8, I talked to McRBIlara and told hill that I saw the strongest 

kind of oppoeition in the Navy to the TFI P-lll and they weren 9 t going 

to buy it, and that there had been this new proposal from Gruaum. I 

aaid, IIIf we were Koinl to do anythiD& here~ it'. got to be competitive. 

It doea't make any sanae suddenly to award a contract to G~. If 
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we're goine to 80 for a new airplane, it ought to be offered competi­

tively to any COlDpeay interested in biddiDc on it." My recollection is 

that KeNBlDara continued to believe that the Ravy waa wrong in this but 

was persuaded of the inevitability of what was happening. We went 

forward on that basis. We did a Itudy (I think Bud Z\UDWal t w.. reeporl­

.ible for it, work:ln& for the eRO) of this new airplane that ultimately 

becaae known aa the 7-14. I insisted on a competitive procuraent. .e 
it ttarned out, GnaIan did finally win it. 

Mafloff: Are you conscious of any clwlge in your attitude toward the 

threat in this position! 

IlD'tiua: I bec.,.. more cOilcemad with the prohl_ of the Middle East. 

and I waa worried about our preoccupation with VietlUUD and our caa-it-

meat of resources to that effort perhaps creating problema for U8 aa 

tilDe went on in areas such aa the Middle Bast. I bec .. quite intereated 

25 

in that aDd in the naad to keep in arlnd that the fleet had to be strength-

ened and that the 8upport for the fleet in torpedoes t W8apona of war, 

and all the other things that were needed had to be funded at adequate 

levels because there had been a rather significant drain because of 

Vietnam. 7hi. related to manpower, a180. 

Matloff: Bow about in coimection with stratqic planning, what role 

did the Secretary of the Navy or his ataff play in this connection 

during thi. period? BOw influential was the Navy in strategic planning 

under Mdfamara aDd Clifford! 

Im.tig I '1'he Navy was interested in war at .ea scenario.. A lot of 

work was dona by Admiral Zaawalt and by the lnetitute for Kaval Analy.:f.a. 
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There was a lot of influence on that, and in the areas that were pecu-

liarly Ra~ rasponeibilitiea--sua.arine warfare, antisubmarine efforts, 

etc. The Secretary', office was involved, often not in initiating 

these things, but in the discussion and decieion~ng. 

ftaUQff: Any cbaDges from one period to the othex--frOlll the McRaJIaJ'a 

to the Clifford era? 

2.6 

lpatius: I IIe1\tioned tba nuclear fdgates. Bavin.c failed to get those 

approved in Defensa under MCNamara, they were approved during the Clifford 

period. We had a maber of new progr81118 started during tba Clifford 

period, al tboush their inception was earlier, during Mc1181118ra' a • There 

wae a new antisubmarine airp18ll8 that we got started; the F-14; the Loa 

Angeles clasa of nuclear attack submarines, a .. jor progr_. I waa 

particularly interested in aeeing us build more attack submarines. 

It seeDed to me thst they were terribly important aDd that the rate was 

JIIin:f.mal when I c .. in. I talked with Paul Nitze about this ieaue. He 

had the back&round of this whole matter that wae enormously important 

end helpful. Weincreaaad the rate considerably on coaatruction of 

attack submarines and lOt the funding for it. It WBS a very productive 

period ill launching new ahips. I think we also lot a bi, progr8lll going 

on the Marine general purpoae ehip-helicopter carriers that also con-

tain a Marina battalion. 

Hatloff: Did interservice competition become a serious problem for you 

in this capacity? 

lID-ttys. There was competition and rivalry between navsl aviation 

and the Air Poree. 'Ihn wae always preaant., but it did not ,at out 
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of bounda, as it had in an earlier period of our hietory. But -it was 

there, and naval aviatora bad very .trona views about the perpetuation 

of naval aviation and the waye that they thought it could beat be served. 

there was a1ao naval opposition to the fast deployment logistic ahips. 

1 had encountered that particularly when I was ASD( I&L) • I think the.t 

the Bavy regarded th_ .. an OSD requirell8Dt f and that if they were 

going to be bought. they should be bought out of OSD money, and not 

came out of the Navy budget in ~etition with carriers, deatroyers t 

frigatea, and au_tines. 

tSat1Qff: 'lhere wae no objection to the concept, just to the funding? 

Im'tiwl: I don't thinlt there was objection to the concept, except on 

the part of Senator Jus.all and others. Russell said, "If you are able 

to intervene quickly. you are more likely to intervene quickly. II That 

opposition was fairly strong. The Bavy oppoeitiOl1 W8S more to the idea 

dlat the fUDda would be at the axpe:nee of more cherished Bavy prograu. 

MatlOff: Waa Mr. Mcffuaara drawn into thi8 question of the competition 

between naval air and the air view on the aame matterY Did be try to 

mitigate the competition? 

IpatiUl: There rauat have been eoma effort, but I don't recall any right 

off. Trench. warfare wasn't going on. It was alway. present, thouah. 

It came to a bead, in one lenaa, in the number of carriers--that'. been 

a long- Btancl:lnc question. Nobody ever thought that we should have DO 

aircraft carriere. The question W88, how many? Should it be 12, or 

151 
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MaHoff: How much is enou&h, the olel Enthoven phrale, and th~ title of 

his book. What about in COQlUtction with the budcet, the IIIlVY aspects 

of the nefenee budget, how did it Illl work out! 

Icnatiual I t:hou&ht it worked out very well. The Havy w .. pleaeel; 

TGIIl Moorer was very pleued. We were able to get a DUllber of :lDrportant 

procrama initiated and funded. 

MaUoff. You felt that the Navy got ita fair share? 

lmatiusl Ye., and I think the unifotJllad Navy thought 80. 

MaHoff, Diel the approach of KcH-.ra and the whiz kids to the Bavy 

budget put you in an uncOlllfortable position vis-a-vis the CNO ~ the 

adIIiral8? 

lcoatiual I probably cave you aomeinaight into that earlier. I IlU8t 

aay that .. the Secretary of the Navy I felt it was my job to do the 

beat possible job I could of articulatinC and defendinc the Bavy point 

of view. But I never felt in that job or any other job that advocacy 

should be blind, DOt, .. a Defense official, that all wisdom resided at 

tha Defense level. I thou.cht of the place .. a single DepartlleDt with 

certain elamanu within it, and in various jobs you did variou8 things, 

but alway. 88 part of the Defense telllll. How the uniforaed Navy regarded 

that initially, and with the background I had, I don't know, but as 

time went OIl we aeamed to meet with same Buccess, and I'. aure that 

helped to build SOlIe enthusiull. 

Hatlgffz Were there any other difference. that you encounured with 

the OSD office? over the nuc1ellr carrier perhap8? Did that become 1m 

issue during your periodT 
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Imet,iu.: I recall 1 ... with the nuclear carrier; the cOIltrover8ie8 in 

the nuclear field involved the nuclear frilatea. We had a lot of 

discus8ion, but finally obtained a decision in our favor with re8pect 

to starting a new class of submarines. We had a IDajor controversy on a 

specialized submarine that Rickover wanted. It was one of a kind. 8Ild 

Johnny Foeter waa very much opposed. I Ipent a lot of time with Poster 

on it, and a fair amount of time with Admiral Ricltover. although it we. 

hard to ,;et IDUch out of twa. What you mainly sot out of Rickcwer wae 

his own peraonal view, and if you had questions, he didn't have much 

interest in them. I fiDally found some salvation by same lons and 

quite personal discussions with the Vice Chief of Haval Operations, 

who was a submariner, Admiral Clary. Rivero had gone by then. He and 

I .pent a good deal of time talking about that, and I became Convinced, 

largely as a re.u1t of hi. comments to me, that I wanted to go to bat for 

this quiet lubmarine that Rickover wanted. Johmly Foster had 80me very 

tough questions about that 8ubmarine. I went to the IIBt and fought for 

it and I got it done. Clary wal very pleased, and I 8U8pect Rickover 

was. That was quite controversial. 

Matloff J Did any probl81118 of allocation of manpower to the Navy COIle 

up during thi8 period? 
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Ignatiua I Probl_ on manpower that I remember had to do with retention 

rate., particularly in key categorie., 8uch a8 nuclear qualified officers. 

I don't remember any battles fDvolvinl overall numbers; there may have 

baen 8ome. I rem_ber particularly the problem of the reenlistment of 

key people, aDd retention in officer eatasori •• , particularly nuclear 
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nuclear 8ub!larine people. The atomic power industry was beginniDg to 

draw off ICIIIIe of those people and we had to find wa,8 to try to BtiDallate 

their retention. 

Matlpff1 On. ar •• proble1118 and cri ••• , was there eny iDvolveMnt with 

JUTO in this capacity? 

1BPatiUlI It WI still more the Vietn. War that I recall. rather than 

RA~O involv __ t. 

Natlpffl BOw about the Pueblo incident, in January 1968? 

IIP'tiua , I learned about that frem Admiral Moorer .round 2:00 in the 

morning. My phone rang at my house and Tom told lie that he had 

just learned about it. That whole thing, of course, wea in the opera­

tional chain for which the Service Secretaries, under law t had no reapon-

aibility, but for which they had a great deal of intere8t and concern. 

But I WIUID!t involved in the deciaion""lllaking. 

Hatloff: When the lituBsi8D8 invaded Czec.hoa1ovakia in Auguat 1968, did 

that get down to your level et all? 

Icp,ilp' Jlo, except that in the ,ebea of thi.Dla it was an event that 

had a lot of significance. Wean't thia at the time of the Glas.boro 

conference when JahDaon and ~ ... ra were meeting with lI:oaygin on levels 

of investment in w.apona? 

:b7M&1 Gla •• boro was 1967, I think. 

Ip,t:lwu Wasn't it in that ... ,aneral period? At any rate, I had 

0Ile reaction, just .. an individual, of t.lw terribly aad history of 

that country. having bean invaded by Bitler and 811 of tho.e probl ..... 

and then to have the Soviet UD.ion come in. Czechoslovakia wa. a 
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country that in the past had always been very close in amy ways to the 

United Stat... So far as the effect, on our thinkina here end what we 

did. it waa aDOthar tragic event, like Hungary. It made it iaport&nt 

that we have RATa. that we 8upport ltA'IO. that we haYl! adequate forces 

and lupport for the allied effort in "TO. 

MaUoff, Bow about in. connection. with Vietnamf Bow much of your t:iJDe 

w.. occupied with Vietnam? 

Im.dUl: Lea8 tlum I spent as ASD(I&L), but uverthelesa a great daal 

of tille. 'lhere were concerna in the Navy: for eX8lllPle, with reapeet 

to the repetitive tour. of naval aviatora in Viet.n8lll. We apent a lot of 

tilDe talkiD3 about acme of the illplieationa of this. We brought into 

beine durinc my period the batUeahip lIN JarBey, which was taken out 

of IlOthbalh and made ready for aea for ahip-to-ahore bombardment. 

That was controversial in 8011e reapecta. I went out on the 19ew Jersey 

OIl a trip t.o Vietnam, and abe vae c~ded by eomeone who bad previOUBly 

been in my office. There were proble118 about 8IIIIIUDi tion in the Navy. 

The expenditure rates were eQOrIDOU8. This was a matter of .... concern. 

When you expend. aaunition, JO'l wear out gun tubel, 80 you bad gun tube 

probl ... , and there were a lot of diacuJllliona with ttoorer and othere 

about all of this. There vae one interesting anecdote. We had to get 

a new cOIIII8wr of the naval forcee in Vietnam. 1 liked the idea of 

sending Bud Zumwait out there becaWi. he had never bad very much duty 

with the troop.. He had been around the State DepartJllent corridors and 

the E ring of the Defanae DepartlleDt, but if you were l0iag to get 

anywhere in the Navy, yo\I bad to know how to drive. ship. Be va. a 
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br{pt fal1ow, and I told f'Soorer that I thought we should consider hill. 

We jumped him over quite a few people to send him out .s a Vice Adlliral 

to Vietnam. Once we had made that decision, I wrota a personal letter-

one of vary few tiaea I ever did this-to creighton Abr8lllll, who had 

replaced Westmoreland a. overall commander in Vietnam. Abe was a good 
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personal friend frOil the old Army daye, and an outstanding soldier. I told 

him that we were sendilll Zumwalt out there, that he was bright and 

obj active, ad. that he WOUld work well with Abrams and could be counted 

upon. But Abrama at that point had not been notified officially by the 

Chiefa that Zumwalt wa. the no.inee for the naval c~end. According to 

custom, the overall c~ender hal to give approval. Abe'. noae was really 

out of joint bacause he beard it from me before be heard officially about 

it. Be told me later, when I saw hila, that if it had not been for his 

affection for _ and hi. trust in my judpent, he waa about to tell the 

Chiefs to shove it; he W88 not going to have aomething decided without 

his involva.ent. As it turned out, Zumwalt did a terrific job in Vietnam 

and Abe couldn't praiae bill enough. 

Matloffl Were your views on the conduct or endi.ns of the war conaulted? 

Im'tiUlI I lot involved to IICD8 extent in that. particularly in lIlY 

discua8iOlUl with Zumwalt before he want over there, 88ying that we ought 

to do everythina we could to turn it over to the Vietuamese. BverytlU.ns 

that possibly could b. dane should be done. That later became a formal 

program, the Vietnamization program. Bud was very inetrumental :in that 

because tbe Bavy had a lot of small craft within the country and it w •• 

easier to turn that size lhip over to the Vietnaaeae than 80118 of the 
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larcer aspecta of the war. rhen Bud spbaai.zed the Bna!ish language. 

That had to be taught to the Vietnamese in order to speed the process. 

tlat.10££: How about higher up, fraa the OS» level, were your views con­

sul ted on bow to end the wart 

IptatiuII Bo, I don't think they were, particularly. I remember walk­

ina out with tk:Ramara from the SeeDef's Btaff lDeeting, following the 

~et. offanaive. I was Bitting a8 the Service Secretary then. I remember 

two thine. being laid simultaneouslYI 1) we won .. major victory, and 2) 

we need 180,000 more trOOps for VeatJlOreland. I Baid to Bob, ''You've 

got to work on this, but it a.eIIS to me that we've cot to look into 

this with the greatest of care because there were same report8 of a 

collapse of the RVN. If that's true. you're going to need a lot more 

than 180,000; and if it'S the great victory that we've laid it ii, why 

do we need 180,000'l The American people aren't. going to 8upport this. 

We need better intelligence on what happened before we act." He looked 

at lie as though. I was telUns him things that be mew better than I. 1 

may have that lWIIber wrong, but it wa8 aD eno1"JDOU8 number. 

Matloffa That ia faacinatina. because he said that he was not happy 

with intelligence dealing with Vietna1l. an4 that he wanted the CIA to 

Bet up a special group as a result of that. 

IIMt.i.ya I I think they did and he felt that their infonation to hill 

was very accurate. HcHamara got into trouble with the Congres8 when he 

t.estified about the bcabina prop-a against Horth VietDall. He said that 
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claims that we went after the North Vietnam ateel industry were incorrect. 

There waa no ateel indue try , there were iron fOUDdriea. Be eaid, "I 

bad more iron foundry capacity under lIlY control as pruident of the 

Pord Motor Co. than the entire Morth Vietnamese have under their control 

in their country. II He talked very candidly about what bOlllbiDC did and 

didn't accc.pliah, and it offeaded many people on the Hill and elsewhere. 

Matloff I Were)'OU aware in this period of any dieillusioraent with the 

war by "cRamer. or other OSD officials? 

Imati118 I He kept that pretty well to hiluelf. He was intensely loyal 

to President bmledy, and after that to President Johnson. Be would 

never aay, "1 don't think this is a good idea, but the White House 

does. II '!hat was foreign to him. So he maintained this loyalty and 

8upport. At the aame tilDe, 88 we know frQIII subsequant eventa, he had 

grave doubte about the efficacy of a lot of what.we were doing. 

Matlgffa Would it be fair to ask whether you felt any change in your 

own attitude toward the war? You aentioned the 'tet offenaive, Weataore-

laDd'e bid for more ground troop., MCNamara'. bid for a bombing halt. 

Did any of theee factora chance your thinking about the war itself? 

about whether we ahould etay in or get out? 

Ip.tiUl= I thouIht that we had to resolve it in an honorable way. 

We had made a maj or cOllllli tment and we owed it to the people of the 

United States who bad been called on to eerve and in some caaea to 

give their livea. That to me wae the JllDst important aspect. Whatever 
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we did, we had to do it in an honorable way. But it became increasingly 

evident that it wa. necesaary to extricate ourselves in sGae appropriate 

fashion from this war. We had given the blood of our youth, the treasury 

of our country, and a major commitment to the cause of freedom, if you 

will. There were many aspects of this that redounded to our favor. 

Indonesia, for example, avoided CollllDUJliat takeover at a time when that 

lIight have happened, and it may well have been that our stand in Vietnam 

-was instrumental in what finally happened. 

:b:aIk: Clifford Calle in at about this point. He had gotten a reputa-

tion of being kind of a hawk and had been an advisor of Johnson on thia 

long before he became Secretary of Defense, but he rather quickly shifted. 

Did you perceive that at the time, and what was the response? 

ImatiUl: Yes. Clifford was appalled at the ext.ent to which Vietnam 

waa claiming the resource. of the Unit.ed States and the time of the 

President of the United States. Johnson was so preoccupied with this 

war. Clifford, with his perspective going back to Harry Truman. was 

appalled at this because of the many other things that were necessary 

to do and which required Presidential inVOlvement. not least of which 

was a program of long-term significance that .Johnson had initiated. the 

war on poverty--the final culmination of efforts to grant full atatus 

to minority groups in the country. 

Hatloff: We always ask this question about Vietnam in retrospect: Did 

the United States fail in Vietnam? Jf so, was it a failure of American 

national policy, military policy, or what? 
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Ip'tiUlI I wouldn't lay that we failed. I think that we went into 

Vietnam for many r.a80D8 I mentioned earlier: the domutic political 

aapeets of it as related to the Io-called 10 •• of China; the decision 

not to go into Lao8; the belief that we could cDllduct a viable operation 

in. Vietna and had in Diem a leaeler who would give l.adership and stability; 

and the concern that the conflict with CODlll.ni .. had chan&'ed fram ware 

with battle linea to war. that were lea. clear cut. Korea waa a turning 

point. You bad in that war one army ero.line the lina of another. In 

tha.e other conflicts involving guerriUa warfare. it was IllUrky. If 

the united States waa loing to play a role, it would have to contend 

with thia new kind of threat. All of thie Cde to a head in Vietnam. 

A8 time went 011, it bec8118 apparent that aome of the a.aum.pti0D8 made 

at the tilDe we went in were proviq not to be aa valid as we t:bouPt. 

'!be IIorth VietDamele fOUCht harder and longer with Il"eater DOrale than 

we had anticipated; we had probl.. in the south; t.levi.ion brought 

the borror. of war directly to the Aaerican people; there was cCDp.Utioa 

for resources in the United Stau8; probl .. about the lenath and nature 

of the war. It was a political war .. wel1 as a war in the old fashioned 

8enae. Por the •• reas~ politicians beaan t.o have doubta; the American 

people besan to have doubtl; the military had to adapt their old ways 

of doiD& things to the new c1eaandI of this war; and eventually it became 

Obri0U8 that we needed in aaee honor.ble way to brine it to an end. We 

did what ..... d to be neceBaary to do 88 a 1eadina world power for rea-

Bone that ae_ed valid at the time. and aa tillle went on it was equally 

clear that we needed to reaolve this thing. 
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Matloff s Bow about the :lapaat of the war 1) on the domino theory, and 

2) on the U. S. lIavy'l What do you think the legacy of that war was! 

.Ip'.tiua: 1he dominoes didn't fall in quite the ..xmer that proponents 

of tha theory seemed to suueat. I thiDlt that to Ie:.. axtent a direct 

readinc of the theory was discredited, althculh some aspects of it 

probably caae to pa88. on the lelaey in the Navy-the Navy had exhausted 

a lot of ita resources in the war and needed to be reconstituted, both 

with reapect to ships and with respect to supporting equipmant. In 

large part, I think, that baa been accomplished in the years since 

Vietnam. Another lelacy is that we ara ding the Navy IIOre today beeauee 

it avoids landing troops on the shore and we have made eJ[cellent uae of 

our carrier task forces in tenae situationa around the world. Maybe 

that's another legacy of VietDaG, avoidins the direct commitment of 

AlDarican troops if we can, but still not abdicating responaibility. We 

have been able to do that with the presence of the Navy. 

Matlgff: On the question of arme control and diaa1'lD8Mllt, were you drawn 

in on any diacU88iona along thoae liaea? 

Icnatius : The quick anaW&r is no. The only thing I r8le1Dber WaS that 

Bob Proach. who was my R&D secretary twa. a180 an expert on underwater 

mattera. I believe that he was involved, and through him, my office, 

in aome of the discussions about era. control conventions with respect 

to weapoua implanted on ths Ocean floor. Some of that was be&inning~ 

Senator Pe11 had a major intereet in that, and there was an ongoing 

effort that Froach overaaw. 
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tlatlgff t We talked about the role of the Service Secretary. Secretary 

Zuckart ia quoted a. having said, '~ay the Service Secretary ia a 

group vice praaidan.t." Would you have a,reed with that 1 

ImeUM: By and larla, I would. And that would ~onfoX'lll to my view 

about beinc part of an overall organization and a Defenae team. But I 

thinlt that the Service Secretary, and I think Gene would agree, is IIOre 

than a group vice president, because he ia a proponent and public .pokea-

man, whereas the group vice president sometimes isn't. I don't believe 

McRamara had a sufficient understanding or appreciation of the role of 

the Service Secretary. That official is a useful perlon to have, and 

McNamara didn!t fully under8tand the job of the aervice 8ecretary. He 

is a group vice pre8ident in ona sense, but al80 the public spokesman 

for hi8 service, and there are a lot of things that he can handle better 

than Dafenle can. For example, if there were a cheating scandal at 

West Point or Amlapolia, we would be a lot better off leniDI the 

aervice and ita secretary handle it than getting the Secretary of 

Defense imrolved. 

Hatloff: So you atil1 .ee need for the poaition? 

Imatiua: I would teep the position. 

Hatloff I The Symington :Report waa one that would have eliminated it. 

ImeUua I The way we're .et up, I think it makes 88118e to have Service 

Secretaries. 
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Iatiua : Getting SOlIe important Jlavy procr- articulated, funded. and 

UDderway. I IIelltiOlled fript .. , sub_dnea, F-14 airplane., the new 

ASW airpl8lle-there ware a D.UIIIber of aecaapliebllenta during that period 

that had aome lasting .ffect. 

MatWf a Any.jar disapPo!nt.ments? 

Ipwtiu.: 1'here muat be 1IOIIIe. I c.an't t.hiDlt of any right now. 

Mat.1Qff: SCII8 general queetions on the Cold War. Did you believe in 

the 19608 that contaiament wa, a realiatic policy, that its asaumptions 

vere valid? 

IlQ8l,iw u Yea, I tbouaht it WH8. I thought that the for.ian policy of 

the United State. in the period under Trwaan, Mar.bal.1. Acheaon, et 

al. .--tIAtO. the TruIIan Plan, the !tarahall Plan, came into be~aa 

creative, conatructive, and worthwhile. I was rereading lut night the 

Marahall Plan speech that the ganeral gave at Harvard. I happened to 

be there that day in 1947, because I was graduatill8 frQGI the Harvard 

Busine.a School, aDd Marahall was the graduation speaker and gave the 

Marshall Plan .peech. Incidentally. 1 was delighted to read in this 

article that President Conant failed to aee the full implications of 

Gen. "-reball'. speech, because I had not seen them either, and I was 

glad that someone .8 knowledgeable and brilliant as President Conant 

had not aeen ita full implicatiou either. The contaimaent policy, I 

thouiht, w.. a wi •• policy. 

HaURff. How about detente? Vaa it a raali.tic policy? 
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ImatiUl: I hope that, in the long run, by being 8t.rong and a.inUining 

the posture t~at we have, we can aomehow reach a point where we can 

live in one world together. I find the Soviet system abhorrent; 80 do 

the Soviet people. There are some signs maybe of t.he beginnin& of sOIDe 

change takil1l place. But a war, 8uch as a large-scale convent.ional war 

in Europe, which we've seen twice in this century, is devastat.ing. 

Nuclear war, 8S we've aeen from the one or two bombs that have been 

dropped, i8 an appalling thing. So we owe it to mankind, if you will, 

to see if we can't find ways to live amicably while disagreeing funda-

mentally on political and social values. Detente; or whatever you call 

it, I believe, should be viewed in positive terms in the Bense that it 

is 8omethil1l towards wh.i ch we should \IIOrk. 

Mitlofl: How effective, in your view, was military aid as 8 tool for 

political leverage in the cold war? 

Ignatius: I think that it was, generally speaking, quite effective. 

There was • feeling on the part of 80me people, particularly in OSD, 

that in Latin America and Africa, to name two places, some of the Ddli-

tary aid programs ended up with the forces having very sophisticated 

weapons that were not the kind of weapons that they really ought to 

have; that we were essentially giving senior mili~ary officers some 

goodies that they wanted, as opposed to what the country really needed 

to deal with the insurgencies that directly or indirectly were taking 

place. Generally, I thought the military aid programs were important 

to fund and to support. 
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MltlQtt I Bow about alliances .. an effective way of mesbing American 

and fore ian military power? 

Ipetiwu Certainly in the caee of NATO it haa been lone-luting. 

effective, with a lot of accomplishment. Less Buccessful in some other 

instance.. but HATO hal proven over time to be extremely valuable and 

important. 

Matloff. A8 a result of your experience in DoD. and your reflection on 

this, do you Bee the need for further change :in the structure and working 

ralatiODlJ, 8uch as between the Secretary of Defense .nd the .rCS and its 

Chairmen; betwaan OSD and the Berrie .. T 

Icnetiua. I did a study during Presidant Carter's adm:1niatraticm on 

Defense organization. which Doc Cook baa probably got on file. President 

Carter wanted an exa.ination of the organization of every Cabinet depart-

lIant, including Defenae. l"he8e studiea were done by CItB paople. In 

the cUe of the Defenae Department. Harold Brown aaked. to do it ill8tead 

of OMB. Be asked me to do this particular one, and a companion one wae 

done on the .rCS. One of the is8U8 the Carter people raised wa8 whether 

we ehould have a aervice secretary; they really wanted to abolieh that. 

I differed with that. and told Harold 80. Be had the same view I did. 

I thought that he was wrOllK in merging manpower and lOliatic8 I and said 

80 in that report. I thought that each job was importlll1t and that the 

logistic aide wasn't getting a fair .hake. 1'hey have since changed 

that and now have a senior official in Defense who ia aolely responsible 

for logiatica. I think that you can improve management of the Departmellt 

by avoiding acme of the layering that goe. on. I don t t aee why you 
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need to have a civilian office of R&D in the Secretary of the Navy's 

office and a military office of R&D UDder the Chief of Naval Operations. 

There aren't that many good It&D people, aDd there'. no Deed to have two 

offices. Graham Claytor, who was at that time the Navy Secretary, said 
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he w •• willing to do samethine like that. I felt alao that the Secretary 

of Defense often was not gettinC enough good military input into decision-

mIkiD& because the papers that C8IDe out of the JCS often were brotered 

8IDOOI the services with something for everybody or an avoidance of some 

of the hard questiona t which c8uaed the Secretary to turn to his civilian 

as.iatants for advice on what tended to b. military matters. In this 

study I devoted a fair amount of attention to this question and a new 

poaition in the DepartlDeDt, Under Secretary for Policy. aa the focal 

point to usn the llilitary input and the civilian input to the Secretary 

of Def8ll8e. In short. I thought that there could be a real improvement 

in overall defenee planning by improving the 1lle8ll8 for bringing forward 

the IIlili tary views. In general t I think I would 8upport the kind of 

refOl1U that have been ilLltituted within the 1.st cOllple of years. 

beginning with General Jones'. efforte to bring about some changea in 

the role of the JCS and then the Goldwater legislation that was passed. 

I doA't buy everything that'. in there, butt generally speaking, it 

seemed to me that theae were worthwhile reforma. 

"atlof£: BOw would you characterize the styles, personalities, and 

effectiveness of the SeeDef and other top officials in OSD with whom 

you .erved, beginning with Hr. HcHmara? 
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Imed"" First. a general COlllllleJlt. I have never baan involved with 

a group of people anywhere in my life of the caliber of chose who were 

in the Defense Department over that eight year period. they were abso­

lutely OUt8tanding and it wal a privilege to be part of it. Secondly. 

I was eDOraaoua1y impressed With the ability of the key civilian career 

people with whom I worked to respond to all of these chana" and requests 

for effort. I was creatly :lapressed with that as an out8ider coming 

in. Coming down to iDdividuals during the Hclfamara period. I really 

loved working for Bob. Be W88 a d.anding person with enormously high 

standards. rou almoat never got a compliment. but you didn~t need to. 

When you did ICllllethil1l tbt wal Bccepted and approved. that wu really 

all that wal needed. Be was able to ,et things done. There were 

other people there Who had tremendous iutelligence and ability who. I 

do not believe. could have gotten things done in the way that McBallara 

did. Be waa a thinker .. as we11 as one who got people to accompliah 

thine. on very tough time scbaclules. the place was just full of talent 

at. that tilDe. It has been remarked by otherl. It was like the Franklin 

Iooaevelt period. hcauae of Pre.ident Kennedy ~ I think~ a. lot of 

people reapoaded to the call and there were uny fir.t rate people~ 

both Republic8Il8 and DuIocrati. One of the thilll8 about it. as 1 look 

back. on it. that is difficult, ie the que.tion that is often raiseas 

If we were all that smart. how did we get involved in the VietD8lll War? 

That's a tough one, and 1 have given you 80lIl8 coaaents in relponae to 

that. That c:auaea me, and I'm Bure, other. who were there, to think 

long and. hard about all of this. But 80 far a8 the caliber of t.he 
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people, their commitment to the United States, aDd their desire to do 

an outstanctiug job, there is no question about it. McKamara wu sur-

rounded by talent. Hia three deputies--Gilpatric, Vance. Nitze--were 

outstanding. You just can't do better than that. Harold Brown, .Johnny 

Foster, the R&D people; Paul Nitze • .John McRaughton. Paul Warnke. in 

the ISA job-all were first-rate. There was DO more dedicated person 

iu the government in the last decades than TOlD PIOrris i he is a legendary 

figure. 

Matloff: The charge has sOMtimeS been made that McRamara sacrificed 

morale aDd personal relatiODS for efficiency and Swift deci.i~ing 

and brusquely sbruiged off IliUtary advice and tradition. would you go 

along with that? 

Iawtiual I don't think he brushed off military advice all much as he 

refused to accept uuaubatantiatad or UDsupported views. Be wanted to 

know the raa.ODS why, and not just be told what ought to be done. In a 

time of chaD&e, aome people got upsat. I was absolutely cODYinced at 

the Iarq level that we had to do 8011ething about the tec:bnical BerviceB. 

So was Bob McNamara. You don't bring about a chan&a like that without 

SOlIe peopla gatting pratty upset in the proce.s. In this case the 

Chief of Army Ordnance, Gen. Hinrichs, retired. If you &0 back in 

history, to EUhu Root'. time, when ha brought tha general staff concept 

into the Aray. very senior official. of the Department of the Army 

quit, because they felt that this change ws. going to ruin the Arm¥. 

~t we had to go forward the way we alwaye had with each bureau in the 

Army independently presenting ita own budget. Elihu Boot 8aid that this 

was crazy. that we needed a general ataff to gtve an overview for all 
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of th:i8. McBamara got things done aDd t generally speaking. cot tham 

dODe pretty well. Some of the controver8ies have peraieted. Hia oppo-

aition to nuclear power in the carrier geppe. hd always been a aore 

spot in the Navy. The conflict over the T.P.X probably still persists. 

Be got thiD&;8 done, and by and large they were touch and illportant 

thiDga to do, and • lot of thoee have had luting effects. 

Matloffa What do you think his permanent legacy will beT 

IIpaUusl If we ever reach a large scale, mean1naful &.rIIIII reduction 

accord, a compreheaaive accord, then McNamara will get a lot of credit. 

Be waa one of the iDatigators, beginning with Gl .. sboro, of the whole 

COIlCept of why it make. 8eaae to try to limit our level of invut.ment 

in theae things, aDd 1Ui!i has continued his efforts in that siace leaving 

the World lank. In a aaa.n.agerial sanae, the lona-raage planning, the 

five-year force atructure and financial plan, are part of an iaportent 

lq.cy which baa gone well beyond the Defense Departmant into the thinkinc 

of the covernment as a whole. and I believe that .tratelic planning in 

industry baa beaef:l.ted also. The notion that we should provide whatever 

ia needed for defense, irrespective of any buqet limitations. but DO 

JIOre than that, and not for frivolous re .. one, was a cardinal part of 

the Mdtamara period. To aC118 utent I think we've gone away frOil that, 

and I think tmdesirably 80. You hear people .aying that if we don't 

buy. particular .,.apOJl, there will be unemployment. That make. it 

aOUDd a8 if the purpose of the Defense Department ia like that of the 

WPA during the depression yeara. There may be jobs as.ociated with build­

ing weapons, but they are a coneequeace of build!Dg weapons. not the 
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reason for bui1dilll tha. McRamara believed in th&t strongly, aDd it 

permeated a lot of what we did--the bale closure program, for example. 

He said we were going to bep OPeD every baae that .. ets a Defense 

need, but not the basel that don-t meet a Def .... e need. He set in 

JIOtion proar'" to acccmplisb that. !boae are some of the thine-. 

He should have spent IIOre time than he did at the peraona1 level, par-

ticularly at the military sChools, looting toward the next generation. 

Be aboul.d have spent lIIOre time with people, other than the iaDediate 

people with whom he dealt, because he was very effective when he did 

it. But he never felt there was enough time. SometiMs his decisions 

were rather· quick. If you weren't ready to have a decision made, you 

were probably better off not raising the question with Bob, because you 

would get a deciSion, and _ybe not the one you wanted in the lcmg run. 

There waa a tendency 8011etimes to act rather quickly. But, overall, I 

think he was an extremely important figure. and on a personal level was 

a major influence in my life and a persOR for whom I have great respect 

and affection. 

natloff I Any COllllll8l1.ts on Clark Clifford or any other Secretary of 

Defense with wbaa you have had contact? 

Imatiual I bad a lot of contact with Clark Clifford, and he was dif-

ferent frOli. MeR_ara in many raspecta. but be wee an outstanding person 

and I also count it a privile,e to have worked with him. I have sean 

hiIIl in the intervanin& yeara. He is a very wis. man and one of the 

last now to go back so far and bave such perspective. I knew Harold 

Brown vary well. I have workecl with him .. a colleacue aad have seen 
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hi. a good deal Binee. Hi. mild worb faster than juat about anybody·s. 

HcRamara aaid ODce. jocularly, that there were only two people smarter 

than he; one wae Harold Brown; and the other was Jack McLean. a profeaaor 

at Harvard Buaine •• School at the a .. tilDe Bob wae and who later became 

president of the Continental Oil Co. Harold wa. very bright but you 

had to have people like Jack Stempler around to tell Harold not to 

answer the question before it was fully asked and occasianally to amile 

at aGme of tho.e congreaaaen. And you had to have people like Jack 

Stapler around to tell McNamara to remember that tb.o8e ccmcresamen 

think they, too, have aoaethin& to do with all this. 

Matioff I 'lbat concludea my questiona. We want to thank you for your 

cooperation and for sbaring your recollections and inaighu with us. You 

have been very kind and very gracioua. 

Ignatius: 7hanlt you very much. I have enjoyed it. 

47 


